IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDREW MICHAEL GOSCIMINSKI,)		
)		
Appellant,)		
)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	SC09-2234
)		
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
)		
Appellee.)		
)		
	_)		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ANDREW MICHAEL GOSCIMINSKI

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida (St. Lucie County)

CAROL STAFFORD HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

GARY LEE CALDWELL
Assistant Public Defender
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
Florida Bar No. 256919
Attorney for Appellant
421 Third Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

(561)355-7600; (561) 624-6560

gcaldwel@pd15.state.fl.us

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Jurisdictional statement.

Andrew Michael Gosciminski was indicted for first degree muder, robbery with a deadly weapon and burglary with assault with a deadly weapon in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit. He was convicted, but a new trial was ordered in Gosciminski v. State, 994 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 2008). On remand, a jury found him guilty and recommended a death sentence by a 9-3 vote. R6 944, 982. He was sentenced him to death for the murder and to prison for the other crimes. R8 1279-87. The court found CCP, felony murder (merged with pecuniary gain) and HAC in aggravation and numerous mitigators. R8 1253-78. A motion for new trial was denied, and sentence was imposed November 6, 2009. R7 1041, R8 1243, R8 1279-87. Notice of appeal was filed November 25, 2009. R8 1297.

B. Statement of the facts.

1. The polygraph motion.

Appellant made a motion to present evidence that he passed a lie detector test in which he said he was innocent of the charges. R2 221-R232. The court conducted an evidentiary hearing at which each party presented an expert witness.

Dr. John Palmatier testified for the defense. He had been a Michigan State Police polygraph examiner for 16 years and obtained a Ph.D. at Michigan State in social sciences with general experimental science, statistics, and criminal justice. R10 144.

He was a scientist for the Chinese Academy of Sciences for several years and a consultant and researcher here and in China and other countries. R10 144-145. He has taught innovations in the polygraph process including new theoretical bases for it, and has been published in scientific periodicals. R10 149.

Palmatier said eleven high quality laboratory studies of the comparison-question test reveal overall 91% accuracy with guilty subjects, and 89% accuracy with innocent subjects. R10 156. Five high quality field studies show 99.6% accuracy for the guilty and 83.5% accuracy for the innocent. Id. Palmatier's apparatus is equipped to detect physical countermeasures like muscle contractions, and he detected no countermeasures in appellant's examination. R10 163. His equipment was designed by James Brown of Queen's University, Ontario, who created the penile plethysmograph used to test sexual offenders. R10 164. Palmatier uses software developed by the Defense Academy of Credibility Assessments, formerly the Department of Defense Polygraph Institute at Fort Jackson. R10 166. Polygraphs are used extensively by the US government and military, the FBI, the Secret Service, DEA. R10 166, R11 285. Florida uses polygraphs in monitoring sexual offenders, pre-employment testing, and in law enforcement and the Department of Corrections. R10 169, R11 286.

Palmatier differentiated two uses of the polygraph. One involves inquiry into a variety of areas. This is a screening test

used for employment or security screening. Its validity is in question. The other use involves inquiring into a specific factual issue and is called a specific incident test. Specific incident tests have above 90 percent accuracy both in the field and in the laboratory. R10 167-69.

Palmatier asked appellant if he took Joan's life, if he did anything physically to Joan to cause her death, and if he caused Joan's injuries leading to her death. Appellant said no to all the questions. Palmatier concluded that appellant was not being deceptive and was telling the truth. R10 173-74.

Palmatier testified there is widespread, general acceptance of polygraph testing in the relevant scientific community, scientists engaged in psychophysiological research. R10 176-77.

The defense presented a study showing that polygraphs are as accurate as such well-recognized diagnostic tools at CT scans and MRI exams. SR2 328.

Dr. Stephen Fienberg testified for the state. He is a professor of statistics and social science at Carnegie Mellon and has a Ph.D. in statistics from Harvard. He chaired a National Research Council (NRC) committee to review the scientific evidence of the polygraph. He was chosen because of his experience on other NRC committees and more importantly because he was not involved in polygraphy or assessment of its accuracy and appropriateness. The committee was chosen to represent the scientific

community at large, "and to my knowledge no polygraph examiners would have fallen within that category." R10 186-89.

The committee concluded that most polygraph studies divide results into three categories: deceptive, non-deceptive, and inconclusive. The inconclusives are often substantial, and the polygraph literature typically discards them, which the committee unanimously considered fallacious. The committee included the inconclusives in its analysis, changing in some instances fairly dramatically the accuracy rates or error rates associated with the polygraph. R10 196-97.

The committee focused on the use of polygraphs for screening and not on forensic uses. A screening polygraph asks very broad questions, and a specific incidence polygraph focuses on a specific incident. Fienberg said there is no gold standard for how to do a good test because there is very little agreement about what constitutes a good test and therefore scientifically you cannot reproduce polygraph results validly. R10 199-202.

Fienberg said Palmatier's table of data did not include inconclusive results, and if you include them the accuracy percentages go down dramatically. He said lab studies are unreliable because they're trying to measure physiological responses from a fake criminal and try to associate it to the real world, and field studies are deeply biased largely because they focus on situations where one knows the truth, either that someone for

some reason confessed to guilt after conviction, or was exonerated, and as a consequence they discard the vast majority of cases where a polygraph was administered but where there is no information about guilt or innocence. R10 202-6.

The committee recommended against the use of the polygraph for security screening. R10 206-07.

Fienberg thought there was considerable consensus that the polygraph is not sufficiently accurate to rely on. He identified the scientific community as "those capable of reading the literature - it's scientific community relevant to the assessment of the accuracy of the polygraph, and that includes people from psychology and psychophysiology, and the set of scientists who are able to read and assess the validity of the studies that we reported on, or other related studies." R10 219-21.

Fienberg conceded that the Department of Defense continues to use polygraphs. R10 225-26.

The committee reached no conclusions about forensic polygraphs "because we were not asked about them." R10 229.

After hearing the evidence and argument of counsel, the court denied the defense's motion to admit the evidence that appellant passed the lie detector test. R11 302-29.

2. The guilt phase.

Joan Loughman was murdered on September 24, 2002 in a house in the South Beach area of Hutchinson Island across the Intra-

coastal from downtown Fort Pierce. The house belonged to her elderly father, Frank Vala. Vala had recently moved to Lyford Cove, a Fort Pierce assisted living facility where appellant was outreach director. Around 8:47 a.m., Loughman ended a phone conversation with her sister, Janet Vala-Terry, saying there was someone at the door. R26 2092, 212-13. Her body was found that evening by relatives who had flown down that day. R26 2127-28.

The medical examiner said the body temperature was consistent with a time of death between 8:50 a.m. and 4:50 p.m. R35 3458-60. The body was in full rigor mortis at 12:30 a.m., so that death occurred sometime between 12:30 a.m. and 12:30 p.m. on September 24. R35 3460-61. Livor mortis was constant, indicating the death occurred at least 8 to 12 hours before 12:30 a.m. on September 25. R35 3462-63.

The injuries were consistent with being caused by a large heavy statue-ashtray which apparently shattered in the attack so that a piece of glass sliced and cut her. R35 3413, 3418. (This object belonged to Mr. Vala. R35 3366.) Loughman did not respond to phone calls after 10:30 a.m. R28 2451. Her jewelry was missing, including a two carat diamond ring with baguettes on each side, and a diamond tennis bracelet. R26 2096-97. The house had no signs of forced entry. R24 1899. No physical evidence at the scene linked to appellant. R25 2047. No physical evidence matched him in the entire case. R25 2052. The state had no DNA

evidence, blood stains, or the like identifying the murderer.

On September 24, Lois Bosworth, a company executive, spoke with appellant on her cell phone around 8 or 8:15 a.m., and she met him at Lyford Cove around 12:30. R27 2327-31. He had on a well-worn black golf shirt, and what looked to be khaki Dockers. He was very calm, did not seem out of the ordinary at all, just normal Michael. R27 2331, 2338.

Pamela Durrance, appellant's ex-wife, testified that during their marriage appellant sold jewelry from a briefcase. R28 2352-53. He did this in the mid to late 90s. R28 2537.

Joan Cox said she spoke to appellant about placing her mother in Lyford Cove in June 2001. He thought it could be the right place, and wanted her to come for two weeks at no charge. He invited Cox and her granddaughter to have lunch to check out the food. At lunch he noticed her diamond ring. R28 2384-87.

Michael Studzinski, former head of maintenance at Lyford Cove, said he thought it was unusual how much time appellant spent with Loughman and Vala. Appellant said to take very good care of them because they were very wealthy, had a very beautiful home with very fine things. Appellant had him raise Vala's bed. Appellant would go the extra mile for certain people. It's a competitive business, facilities try to get people in. Appellant's job was to fill beds, and he did a good job of it. Going the extra mile was part of his job, to get them in and keep

them. Vala's comfort and raising the bed would be important to keeping him happy and a resident at Lyford Cove. R28 2394-2400.

Victoria Acquaro, a former nurse at Lyford Cove, was checking diabetic patients when appellant asked her to meet Vala and Loughman. It was inconvenient for her. He said he wanted to roll out the red carpet because they had big bucks. He told Loughman the facility could handle Vala. The director of nursing, Linda, was on vacation. Acquaro thought Vala needed more skilled care than they could provide. Vala was in a lot of pain. R28 2402-09.

Vala was moved to hospice on September 24. R28 2420.

Debra Flynn, Lyford Cove's director, said appellant came to the office around 1:30 p.m. on September 24. R29 2488. He came to morning staff meetings in the past, but his attendance had become erratic. R29 2479-80. That day, he wore a blue and white shirt, casual pants, and maybe boat shoes; it was not his usual attire, it wasn't as nice as it should have been. R29 2489-90.

After meeting Bosworth, appellant came to Flynn's office where she was working with Nicole Rizzolo. He was quiet, and Flynn was less friendly with him than usual. His hair looked a little wet, freshly slicked back. He didn't usually look that way in the morning; he was extremely fresh, like he just had a scrubbed shower and his arms were glowing pink. R29 2491-93.

He was in the process of moving at this time, and if he had been moving boxes that morning it would be natural for him to

shower before coming to work. R29 2516.

He said he had a ring for his girlfriend Debra Thomas, and pulled a ring from a tissue in his pocket. Flynn looked at it and handed it to Rizzolo. It was dark, like dirty, like it needed to be cleaned or was an antique, old and worn. He said Deb's into estate jewelry. The center diamond was round or a roundish hexagon with smaller diamonds on the sides; the ring was white. For a few months or a month he had been saying he was looking to get Deb a two carat diamond ring. R29 2494-97.

There was some black on the ring all around the grooves, in the prongs and around the stone on the bottom so you couldn't see the stone really good. He said he bought a whole estate, including other rings and jewelry. He mentioned a tennis bracelet, diamonds and emeralds in relation to the bracelet. R29 2501-03.

After September 24, appellant cut his hair, beard and mustache very short, according to Flynn. A few days after that he dyed his hair and beard. R29 2510-11.

Nicole Rizzolo said appellant arrived after lunch. He looked freshly showered, hair slicked back. He pulled a ring in a napkin out of his pocket. It was white gold or platinum with a big round diamond and smaller diamonds on the side; it was probably two carats. She looked at it for a second and did not think it was pretty. He said it was for his girlfriend. He said he had also got her a tennis bracelet. Rizzolo said appellant did not

have facial hair on the 24th. She told detectives the ring was really old and dirty looking. R29 2529-38.

Debra Thomas had been living off and on with appellant on Wakefield Circle in Port St. Lucie since 2000. R31 2758. At some point she moved to Palm Bay, where she met Ben Thomas (who was not related to her) in the springtime. R31 2760-61. Ben Thomas and appellant were competing for her. R31 2766. She was married to a third person during this period. R31 2858.

She moved back in with appellant, but she went to Arizona in April 2002. She planned to move there permanently but moved back when she could not get her nursing license because her mail was tampered with. She moved back with appellant and then moved in with Ben Thomas but moved back with appellant because appellant threatened her, her family and Ben Thomas. R31 2766-75.

Several days before September 24, appellant said he would get her a two carat diamond ring in West Palm Beach. R31 2780.

Shortly before September 24, he pointed out the Vala house on South Beach. She had lived in that area eight or nine years before. He said he wanted to look at this house as an investment, it would be coming on the market soon because the person who had it was in his facility, was not doing well. R31 2775-76.

Thomas said that on September 24, appellant came home

¹ At the end of September 2002, they moved to the Fountains, a barrier island condo in Indian River Shores. R31 2771, 2820.

around lunchtime. R31 2790. She found him washing his upper body at the bathroom sink. R31 2792-93. He seemed to be washing blood off his upper body. R31 2796. His clothes were on the floor and had substantial or noticeable blood on them. R31 2797. He said he had collected money for his friend Dominic, and he had to rough somebody up to get it and he had to get rid of the clothes because of the blood. R31 2798. The clothes were Dockers and a button down shirt with tan palm trees on it. R31 2799. She did not see his shoes. R31 2800.

On October 2, 2002, Thomas told Det. Hickox that this incident happened around 1:00 p.m. She told Hicox on October 7, 2002 that the time was "Early afternoon." On the witness stand she put the time as: "Early afternoon, around lunchtime." At deposition, she put the time as "around one o'clock." R31 2882-84.

Thomas testified at trial that appellant probably left "within an hour." She had said at deposition that he left around 3:00, but she said at trial that defense counsel had suggested that time to her. R31 2885-86.

Appellant returned that evening and gave her a ring with a large clear stone on a white gold band with baguettes on the side. He said it was two carats. It was round with a rectangular baguette on each side. It was not in a box, he just handed it to her. It "looked old, it looked dirty." R31 2808-11.

On September 25 and 26, she showed it to her friend Maureen

Reape. R31 2813, 2817. They discussed "how we didn't trust Michael and didn't know what he was capable of, and whatever he was involved with, I didn't want any part of it." R31 2813.

Reape said she went to Debra and appellant's home while they were packing and getting ready to move about a week before the murder. Appellant mentioned getting Debra a diamond solitaire princess cut ring. On September 25 and 26, Debra came to her home and showed her a platinum or white gold ring; it was a couple of carats with two baguettes on each side. The center stone was a round solitaire diamond. R31 2895-2906.

Reape told the police the ring was two and a half to three carats. It was nice and clean, with no dirt. R31 2905-06.

On the evening of September 26, Debra Thomas and appellant met Steve Jurina. R31 2817-18. She showed Jurina the ring. Id.

Jurina said there was something like a ring on her finger but he did not notice the shape or anything. Appellant said it was almost a 2-carat perfect diamond worth about \$15,000. He wanted to borrow Jurina's trailer for their move to Indian River Shores because his credit card was maxed out. Jurina visited after they moved, and appellant and Debra got in a little argument and Debra said her brother was sick. R29 2547-48.

On October 1, appellant told officers he went to the Vala house on the $17^{\rm th}$ or $19^{\rm th}$ to pick up furniture. The furniture was in an alcove outside. On the $23^{\rm rd}$ he was working late at Lyford

Cove and Loughman came and spoke to him. After they talked, she asked him to carry a suitcase to her car. R26 2169-77, R29 2555.

On October 2, Det. Hickox secretly recorded an interview with appellant. Appellant said he might have met Loughman or talked to her on the phone the week before Vala was admitted, and he moved some furniture from Vala's house to Lyford Cove. R27 2291-94. Loughman said the maid was there to pick up keys, but he did not see her; the stuff was in the living room and part of it was outside, and Loughman came in later to do the paperwork. R27 2294-95. He saw her maybe once or twice at the facility, and met her Monday night. R27 2295-96. They talked about 10 or 15 minutes, and she asked him to put a suitcase in her car. Id. Asked about personal conversations, he said, "We talked about us, my move coming up, moving stuff like that." R27 2296-97. When they talked that night, she said her family was flying in and she was going home. R27 2299. He was asked if she had a lot of money and about her jewelry and he said he had no clue, he didn't get involved in that stuff, didn't pay too much attention to that stuff, it didn't matter. Id. When he picked up the furniture, it was piled by the door. R27 2300. Id. He said he would agree to give a DNA sample after talking to his lawyer and calling him on his cell phone. R27 2301-03. Asked again about the jewelry, he said he didn't "notice stuff like that. I deal with people, family members all day long that - it's irrelevant

to what dad or mom may be able to take care of, to us, which is why we do a confidential statement on what mom and dad can afford." R27 2305. He said he "could have commented" on her jewelry, but didn't pay a lot of attention to things like that, it was irrelevant to what he did. R27 2305-06. Hickox told appellant Joan was hurt Tuesday the 24th and appellant said that day he was packing stuff to leave, went to the bank, and then had a meeting. R27 2306. After a discussion of arranging about the DNA, he said he was nowhere to be found on the day of the murder until a meeting at his company around 11 with the head honcho. R27 2309. He worked at his house packing and went to the bank about 9:30 or 10 to make a deposit. Id.

While Hickox spoke with appellant, Dets. Bender and Hall spoke with Debra Thomas at her and appellant's home. She had a white ring with a large diamond in the middle and two small diamonds on the side. R29 2561. She said appellant gave her the ring in 2001. R29 2569, 2595; R30 2823.

Debra Thomas testified she lied to the officers about when appellant gave her the ring "Because I panicked. I didn't want to be implicated in whatever he had done, and I was scared." R31 2823. "I panicked and I was afraid of being implicated." R31 2871.

She said that, after Bender and Hall left, appellant telephoned and said Frankie called and said the ring's hot and he had to get rid of it. She called her sister and told her to call and say she was needed for her brother, who was in the hospital with leukemia. Appellant came home, took the ring off the counter and went to the beach. R31 2824-26.

That evening, the Jurinas came and, as prearranged, Debra's sister called about the brother and Debra left. She went to the home of Ben Thomas. They went to the police station, where she told what had happened to the ring. Appellant was arrested that night (October 2) or the next morning. R31 2830-33.

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