#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC09-2234

#### ANDREW MICHAEL GOSCIMINSKI

APPELLANT

VS.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

••••••

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

......

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

However, even if this testimony was admitted improperly, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986). <u>See State v. Lee</u>,

531 So.2d 133, 136 (Fla.1988) (stating "erroneous admission of collateral crime evidence is subject to harmless error analysis as set forth in <u>DiGuilio</u>.") The statement was stated clearly and without the interposed objection once and was referred to briefly in closing argument. <u>See Floyd v. State</u>, 913 So.2d 564, 573-74 (Fla. 2005) (holding erroneous admission of dissimilar fact evidence was harmless as it was strictly limited by the trial court and was only briefly referenced by the State).

Excluding the testimony of a threat leaves the following testimony intact: (1) cell phone records placing Gosciminski in the area of Loughman's home at the time of the murder; (2) the fact he is seen with a ring matching the description of the Loughman's ring within hours of the murder; (3) the ring given to D-Thomas after the homicide is identified by several lay and police witnesses as matching Loughman's ring; (4) when questioned by the police regarding the incident, Gosciminski discards the two carat diamond ring and ultimately gives conflicting accounts of his whereabouts that morning; (5) Loughman's jewelry is found in a shed where Gosciminski has visited two or three time a week and in a bag matching one Gosciminski had in his drawer before the murder, but not after; (6) Loughman's fanny pack is found in the woods near where Gosciminski made a cell phone call on the day of the murder; (7) cell phone records refute Gosciminski's testimony regarding what

he did that morning and/or how long it took him to complete the route he claimed to have taken; (8) Gosciminski told the police he was at home until 9:30 or 10:00 a.m., arriving at work at 11:00 a.m., then changing that account for his trial testimony (9) testimony that Gosciminski would not have been permitted to place a display board at a area boutique both because the owner did not allow such displays and did not open her doors until 10:00 a.m. contradicted his claim to have been at that boutique that morning. (R.26 2089-91, 2106-12; R.27 2331; R29 2492-2507, 2530-34, 2535, 2561-67, 2580-85 2627-39; R31 2790-93, 2796-2801, 2808-10, 2813, 2823-29, 2831-32, 2851-55, 2857, 2897-2905, 2909, 2917-19, 2931-32, 2942-44; R.32 3021-26; R.33 3243-47) Taken together, it is clear that the one answer referring to a threat and the reference to that threat in closing argument was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### ISSUE II

# THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE AREA OF INQUIRY REGARDING DEBRA THOMAS' ALLEGED DRUG USE IRRELEVANT (restated)

Gosciminski maintains it was error for the court to find questions regarding D-Thomas' alleged drug use irrelevant under "Edwards and Green" and in assuming the issue was resolved in the first trial. (IB 42; R.31 2879-80). The State submits the testimony was excluded properly.

"A trial judge has wide discretion to impose reasonable

limits on cross-examination." Smith v. State, 7 So.3d 473, 500 (Fla. 2009); McDuffie v. State, 970 So.2d 312 (Fla. 2007); Boyd v. State, 910 So.2d 167, 185 (Fla. 2005). See Delaware v. van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986). The scope of and limitation on cross-examination in a criminal trial lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and is not subject to review except for a clear abuse of discretion. See Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1997); Tompkins v. State, 502 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1986); Diaz v. State, 747 So. 2d 1021, 1023 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). But see Sanders v. State, 707 So.2d 664, 667 (Fla. 1998) (stating determination to allow/disallow questioning on cross-examination is not subject to review unless determination is clearly erroneous).

Evidence of drug use for impeachment should be excluded unless:

(a) it can be shown that the witness had been using drugs at or about the time of the incident which is the subject of the witness's testimony; (b) it can be shown that the witness is using drugs at or about the time of the testimony itself; or (c) it is expressly shown by other relevant evidence that the prior drug use affects the witness's ability to observe, remember, and recount.

<u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So.2d 1050, 1054 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Edwards v. State, 548 So.2d 656, 658 (Fla. 1989)).

Although Gosciminski alleges the State misled the trial court when it offered that the issue was decided previously, the

record shows both the defense and State acted under the premise the issue had been decided even to the extent that defense counsel thought he needed to raise the issue before asking the witness questions regarding the subject and agreed to stipulate to the proffer offered in the first trial. Apparently, the proffer the defense and prosecution were referring to was that of Debra Flynn from the first trial. In her proffer, she stated she was not D-Thomas' supervisor when they were employed at Crystal Palms, but by the time Flynn became director, D-Thomas had left and she did not know the basis for that resignation. (SR.1 135-36). Also, in the first trial, and when his taped trial testimony was played for the jury in here, Gosciminski stated that D-Thomas had a drug problem and such was the basis for their break-ups in April 2002, June 2002, and that he saw her using drugs in mid-August 2002 (R.33 3127-31)

In this trial, Gosciminski sought to impeach D-Thomas with allegations of drug problems during the time they had a relationship and that he kicked her out of the home they shared only to take her back in mid-August 2002. However, in neither the 2005 nor 2009 trial did the defense attempt to show that D-Thomas was under the influence of drug at the time of the incident (September 24, 2002), during the 2009 trial, or that she had taken such a quantity of drugs over a period of time that her ability to perceive/recall events was impaired. As

such the area of inquiry was excluded properly.

In Trease, this Court reasoned:

During cross-examination, the defense did not attempt to establish via a proffer that there was testimony regarding cocaine use that it wanted to elicit and that the testimony satisfied Edwards. Having failed to the relevancy of the sought-after testimony by way of proffer, Trease cannot now claim error. See Finney v. State, 660 So.2d 674, 684 (Fla. 1995) ("Without a proffer it is impossible for the appellate court to determine whether the trial court's ruling was erroneous and if erroneous what effect the error may have had on the result."); Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1990) (holding that a party's failure to proffer what a witness would have said on cross-examination renders an alleged trial court error in the exclusion thereof unpreserved). We find no error.

Trease, 768 So.2d at 1054 (footnotes omitted). See Williams v. State, 617 So.2d 398, 400 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (recognizing "evidence of a witness' drug use, other than at the time of trial or at the time of the incident, is not admissible to impeach the witness unless there is an express showing, by other relevant evidence, that the prior drug use affected his ability to observe, remember, or recount"). This Court should affirm.

Moreover, Gosciminski's reliance upon <u>Coxwell v. State</u>, 361 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1978) is misplaced. Cross-examination of D-Thomas was not precluded on a subject raised on direct examination as was the case in <u>Coxwell</u>. Likewise, the State did not leave the jury with a mistaken impression of the situations between D-Thomas and Gosciminski as was found to be error in

Coco v. State, 62 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1953), nor was the defense precluded from challenging D-Thomas on information directly addressed to her observations regarding the criminal events as was done in <a href="McDuffie">McDuffie</a>. The State had not broached the subject of D-Thomas' alleged drug use, as such was irrelevant and inadmissible unless certain criteria were met under Edwards.

Further, given the playing of Gosciminski's prior testimony by the State the jury was allowed to explore the on-again-off-again relationship he had with D-Thomas and the steps he took to win her and keep her with him. Whether he asked her to leave because he thought she was abusing drugs does not under cut the fact that she returned to him after a threat and promises of a two carat ring and beach home, especially where he followed through on both promises. As such, should this Court conclude there was an abuse of discretion in not permitting the defense to delve into D-Thomas' alleged drug use, such was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and affirm. See Lukehart v. State, 776 So.2d 906, 920 (Fla. 2000) (finding restriction on cross-examination harmless beyond any reasonable doubt in light of the entire record); Kramer v. State, 619 So.2d 274, 276 (Fla. 1993) (finding cross-examination limitation harmless under DiGuilio).

#### ISSUE III

THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING D-THOMAS'S TESTIMONY ABOUT HER LICENSE AND ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS (restated)

Next, Gosciminski argues the court improperly allowed D-Thomas to testify that he intercepted her mail, thus, causing her not to get her nursing license in Arizona. He asserts that the testimony was speculative and evidence of bad character because it involved a potential crime. Gosciminski contends he was prejudiced since it allowed D-Thomas to cast aspersions on his character while he was forbidden to elicit facts about her substance abuse history. The court found, Gosciminski failed to raise a timely, contemporaneous objection to the comment that D-Thomas' mail was intercepted, however, the court overruled the objection regarding who was living in the house at the time, and entertained the motion for mistrial. The trial court did not its discretion in finding the objection abuse to the "interception" comment untimely, 8 overruling the objection as to

The challenge to the "interception" of mail comment was untimely, and thus, the direct objection to the comment was not preserved for appeal. See <a href="Murray v. State">Murray v. State</a>, 3 So.3d 1108, 1117 (Fla. 2009); <a href="Harrell v. State">Harrell v. State</a>, 894 So.2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005); <a href="Steinhorst v. State">Steinhorst v. State</a>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). In <a href="Norton v. State">Norton v. State</a>, 709 So.2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997), this Court reasoned:

<sup>. . .</sup> defense counsel's failure to raise a contemporaneous objection to the comment at the time it was made waived his right to argue this issue on appeal. . . The purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule is to place the trial judge on notice that an error may have occurred and provide him or her with the opportunity to correct the error at an early stage of the proceedings. *Castor*, 365 So.2d at 703. "[A] timely objection must be made in order to allow curative instructions or admonishment to counsel."

who was living in the house, and determining that neither comment rose to the level for a mistrial. However, even if the objection is found to have preserved the matter for appeal, admission of the testimony was not error as the testimony was not evidence of other crimes or bad character and was within the witness' knowledge. Furthermore, the two comments were innocuous, pertaining only to the on-going domesticate interactions of the two individuals, not some criminal charge. Relief should be denied.

The standard of review for the admission of evidence is abuse of discretion. Admission of evidence is within the court's discretion, and its ruling will be affirmed unless there has been an abuse of discretion. Williams v. State, 967 So.2d 735, 748 (Fla. 2007); Ray v. State, 755 So.2d 604 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9 (Fla. 2000); Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997). Discretion is abused when the action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable. Trease, 768 So.2d at 1053, n.2.

The testimony at issue came during D-Thomas' explanation of her relationship with Gosciminski. She had testified that she had a relationship and lived with Gosciminski for about 14

Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990). Thus, despite appellant's motion for mistrial at the close of the witness's testimony, his failure to raise an appropriate objection at the time of the impermissible comment failed to adequately preserve the issue for appellate review.

months, with her moving out for short periods during that time. When she first moved in, Gosciminski and his mother were the only other individuals living in the house. However, his mother left to go to a nursing home about five months after D-Thomas arrived. (R.31 2758-59) D-Thomas testified that when they began having relationship problems, she moved out briefly, and Gosciminski wooed her back by sending her gifts and tokens of his commitment to her. During their relationship, Gosciminski exaggerated his wealth in an attempt to make himself more desirable to her. (R.31 2760-66) While separated from him she met another man, B-Thomas, with whom Gosciminski attempted to compete for her affections, and she made arrangements to move to Arizona. Although she moved back in with Gosciminski, she went to Arizona to arrange for work and housing for her planned relocation. Her only permanent residence at that time though was at Gosciminski's Port St. Lucie house where she was living with him alone, save when she took a brief trip out of state. Consequently, she gave officials in Arizona only the Port St. Lucie address to reach her. (R.31 2766-67) It was immediately after these facts had come into evidence that D-Thomas made the statements to which Gosciminski objected. Abundantly clearly is the fact Gosciminski did not want to lose her and tried to keep her in Florida with him.

Defense counsel objected to the statements as speculative

and evidence of bad character. The court denied the objection on the grounds of speculation as D-Thomas knew who lived there because she herself was living there when she took this short trip to Arizona. Further, D-Thomas said it was Gosciminski's address that she gave to the Arizona nursing board. The court properly denied the objection and did not abuse its discretion.

While the court stated the defense had not made a contemporaneous objection to the comment about the mail being intercepted, it did allow counsel to argue the bad character objection and made a ruling on that basis as well. The State argued D-Thomas only meant that Gosciminski did not hand her any mail, not that he had committed a criminal act. The court noted Gosciminski lived at the home and could properly accept any mail that arrived. Further, as pointed out above, a more logical inference to this statement was that Gosciminski may not have handed/forwarded D-Thomas her letters as he wanted her to return and to stay with him in Florida. This is evident from the fact that Gosciminski even sent D-Thomas a lease agreement for a Vero Beach condo on the beach while she was in Arizona. (R.31 2771-72) It is imminently more reasonable to see this as a possible action of a man trying to hang onto a love rather than a criminal action. Finally, the State proposed additional questions in this area to bring out these ideas, but the defense wished to close the subject and declined the offer. There was no

evidence of bad character or of other crimes in this statement and the court did not abuse its discretion.

Finally, even if it were error for the trial court to allow this testimony, there was no prejudice to Gosciminski arising from it because any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d at 1135. These particular facts did not go to the issue of guilt on the charges before the court and jury and were not brought up at all later in the case nor were they argued. Whether or not Gosciminski received a letter for D-Thomas and failed to tell her about it does not go to her credibility as a witness in this case, nor is it evidence of bad character on his part given the nature and state of their relationship at that time. While Gosciminski asserts that the State's case was "almost non-existent" ample evidence of his guilt was presented to the jury. The State also incorporates its harmless error analysis presented in Issue I here. Briefly, cell phone records placed Gosciminski near the crime and at the site where her fanny pack was located, he had Loughman's ring after the murder, Loughman's other jewelry was found in a bag he had before the murder and was in a shed on the property he frequented, and he numerous false statements regarding his actions that morning. Any error in allowing D-Thomas to comment that Gosciminski intercepted her mail is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should affirm.

#### ISSUE IV

# THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN DENYING GOSCIMINSKI'S REQUEST FOR RELEASE OF DEBRA THOMAS' GRAND JURY TESTIMONY (restated)

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